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MANAGEMENT REPORT

AS Sun Finance Group and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is one of the leading online consumer lending companies 
headquartered in Europe, active in 5 countries globally – Poland, Latvia, Kazakhstan, Denmark and Mexico, 
presents its special purpose financial statements for the twelve-month period ending 31 December 2019.

The Group provides quick, convenient, and accessible services for tech-savvy individuals preferring alternative 
lending sources to traditional bank offering or unable to access such.

The Group was established on 8 April, 2019. The share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2019 was EUR 320 
thousand divided into 290 909 ordinary shares and 29 091 personal shares with nominal value of EUR 1 each.

Important events in 2019 and future developments
2019 was a period of strong growth in business volumes across most of geographies, driving an increase in revenues 
and profitability, as well as a key period of establishing the Group in terms of legal structure and organizational 
structure in a way that would set up the Group for future growth and development.

The Group’s management focused on two key areas during the period – strengthening the market position in the 
existing businesses (Poland, Latvia, Denmark, Kazakhstan and Mexico) as well as establishing a solid footing in the 
newly opened markets in 2020 – Sweden and Vietnam. Focus on business growth resulted in a nearly doubled loan 
portfolio (EUR 56.5 million as of 31 December 2019 vs EUR 38.0 million as of 31 December 2018) and interest income 
over EUR 101 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the period the Group grew in terms of most business metrics, including total number of employees, reaching 
600 at the end of the year, driven by the rapid expansion. In addition, during 2019 the Group restructured its legal 
and organisational structure in regional hubs, which allows the Group to streamline its operations, maintain lean 
organizational structure as well as offers a more flexible structure in terms of opening and operating in new 
countries.

The global outbreak of the novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) which resulted in global lockdowns, including most of our 
operating markets, starting March 2020, introduced some amount of uncertainty to the Group’s 2020 growth and 
expansion plans. The management took the decision to pivot and focus on cost discipline and profitability, while 
applying more conservative lending policies across our businesses. Several months into the situation, it is clear that 
these decisions were pivotal in overcoming the period of uncertainty and have positioned the Group in a strong 
position for resuming growth in comparison to other industry players. While the management remains focused on 
cost discipline and maintains a more conservative approach than pre-COVID period, we have already seen 
significant recovery in terms of volumes issued since June 2020 and improving customer sentiment, allowing the 
Group to return to a growth phase.

Financing
In August 2019, the Group successfully issued a 2-year corporate bond private placement registered in Nasdaq 
CSD, for EUR 10 million at par with an annual interest rate of 11.0%. Bond maturity is August 2021.

Additionally, the Group continued to work on other funding diversification projects in 2019, including cooperation 
with the largest European peer-to-peer lending marketplace Mintos (www.mintos.com). In 2019 loans from all 5 
Group’s markets were listed on the marketplace – Poland, Denmark, Latvia, Kazakhstan and Mexico.

At the Group we see financing as a key part of our business and strive to both diversify and reduce the cost of our 
sources of funding. In 2020 the Group is in the process of finalising the issuance of EUR 20 million subordinated bond 
with a 3-year maturity as well as considering additional bond issuance, among other financing related projects.

Future developments
While the first half of 2020 was overshadowed by the COVID-19 outbreak, effectively stalling any projects related to 
further expansion in terms of opening new countries or new product development, we have seen promising 
recovery since June 2020 in most of our geographies. Such developments, while cautiously, allows us to return to 
our pre-COVID plans for evolving and broadening the Group’s business model. Over the coming periods the Group 
will be focusing on the following:
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• Diversification of funding sources. We aim to continue working on new projects related to funding diversification, 
including attraction of new financing through an additional issuance of corporate bonds as well as adding Sweden 
to the Mintos platform.

• Diversify our geographic footprint. We are in the process of setting up businesses in new countries, in line with the 
wider Group strategy of geographic diversification. This process was stalled during the COVID outbreak and we 
expect to be fully operational in two new countries by the end of Q4’2020 / early Q1’2021.

• Diversify our product offering. In order to best serve our customer needs, we are in continuous process of 
improving current product offering as well as developing new products. As part of this process, we are in the final 
development stages of Instalment Loan product, which we are planning to launch by Q1’2021 in selected markets.

Review and development of the Group’s business and financial position

Interest income for the twelve months ended 31 December 2019 amounted to EUR 101 475 thousand, compared 
with EUR 36 465 thousand in 2018, which represents an increase of 178%. The increase in interest income is related 
to continued growth in established markets.

The balance of outstanding net loans at the end of 2019 was EUR 56 496 thousand, a 49% increase compared with 
EUR 37 998 thousand as of 31 December 2018. This increase, similar to interest income, is related to continuously 
growing presence in the established markets.

The Group’s profit before tax for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to EUR 15 654 thousand, a 
significant increase from the loss of EUR 2 120 thousand reported for the twelve months ended 31 December 2018.

Other information

The Group applies Group-level policies for overall risk management, and there are Group policies covering specific 
areas such as credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, interest rate risk, operational risk and reputational risk. 
Management has implemented procedures to control the key risks as described below. More detailed information 
on risks and relevant policies can be seen in Note 4.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a counterparty/customer fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises primarily from the Group’s loans and advances to customers. This includes scenarios where 
the customer makes payments late, only partially, or not at all. The Group’s customers generally have higher 
frequency of delinquencies, higher risk of non-payment and, thus, higher credit losses than customers who are 
served by traditional providers of consumer credit. The Group’s Credit Policy defines lending guidelines according 
to the business strategy and efficient risk management, protecting the Group’s assets as well as complying with the 
local regulatory requirements.

Liquidity risk
The Group manages its liquidity positions through its Treasury department. The Group manages its liquidity risk by 
arranging an adequate amount of committed credit facilities with related parties and by issuing bonds. In addition, 
the Group attracts a significant amount of funding through peer-to-peer platforms which are more flexible than 
traditional funding options and allows the management to increase or reduce the amount of funding available to 
the Group on a timely manner.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that movements in market prices, including foreign exchange rates, interest rates, credit 
spreads and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its portfolios. The Group specifically 
manages interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk as part of the broader market risk umbrella which are 
explained in more detail below.
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Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that movements in interest rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its portfolios 
of financial assets. The Group is not exposed to interest rate because all of its liabilities are interest bearing 
borrowings with a fixed interest rate.

Currency risk
The Group has assets and liabilities denominated in several foreign currencies. Foreign currency risk arises when the 
actual or forecasted assets in a foreign currency are either greater or less than the liabilities in that currency. Please 
see Note 34 for more detailed analysis of Group’s sensitivity to different currencies in which we operate in.

Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or factors affecting all 
instruments traded in the market. Price risk arises when the Group takes a long or short position in a financial 
instrument.

The Group is not exposed to price risk as it does not hold financial instruments dependant on changes in market 
prices.

Sun Finance Group / Ownership

AS Sun Finance Group is the holding company of the Sun Finance Group (the “Group”). As of 31 December 2019, 
the Group operates in 5 countries. Each country’s subsidiary is entitled to take operational decisions regarding its 
business activities. Countries located in a certain region are combined in “Hubs” coordinated by sub-holding 
companies controlled by the parent company. Each Hub is entitled to take decisions regarding the activities of the 
countries included in the Hub as well as general Hub activities.
The share capital of the Group is indirectly held by the two founders of the Group and strategic investors attracted 
in 2018, AS Puzzle International.



2019
EUR

2018
EUR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The accompanying notes on pages 16 to 49 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 Note 
2019 
EUR 

2018 
EUR 

    

Interest income  6 101 475 796  36 465 439  
Interest expense 7 (8 690 606)  (3 993 333)  
Net interest income  92 785 190  32 472 106  
Net impairment losses on loans and receivables 8 (9 267 937)  (10 687 571)  
Gain/losses from derecognition of financial assets measured 
at amortised cost 19 (40 082 430) (5 658 313) 

Operating costs 9,31 (31 386 935)  (17 736 311)  
Other operating income 10 3 910 430 962 956  
Other operating expense 11 (778 046)  (725 118)  
Net foreign exchange result 12 473 721  (748 089)  
Profit / loss before tax  15 653 993  (2 120 340)  
Corporate income tax  13 (8 867 830)  (2 088 637) 

Profit / loss for the period  6 786 163  (4 208 977)  

Other comprehensive income / loss    

Foreign currency translation differences on foreign operations   283 747  (328 399)  

Total comprehensive income / loss for the period  7 069 910  (4 537 376)  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The accompanying notes on pages 16 to 49 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Assets
 

Note 

31.12.2019 
EUR 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

Property and equipment 15 2 943 179  459 248  
Intangible assets  16 1 285 044  652 676  

Tangible and intangible assets  4 228 223  1 111 924  
    
Non-current financial assets 18 3 602 517  217 300  

Deferred tax asset 14 428 639  363 852  

Non-current financial assets  4 031 156  581 152  

Total non-current assets  8 259 379  1 693 076  

 
Loans and advances to customers 19 56 495 985  37 998 596  
Other loans and receivables 17 9 066 213  2 659 518  
Prepaid expense  334 822  349 898  
Other receivables 20 13 482 527   8 165 900  
Cash and cash equivalents 21 3 188 321  2 279 009  
Total current assets  82 567 868  51 452 921  

TOTAL ASSETS  90 827 247  53 145 997 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

The accompanying notes on pages 16 to 49 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 
Note 

31.12.2019 
EUR 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

Shareholder’s equity    

Share capital 22 320 000  -  
Reserves 2,31 253 000 - 
Currency translation reserve  (44 652)  (328 399)  
Retained earnings   (9 395 293)  (4 544 972)  
Current year profit / loss  6 786 163 (4 208 977)  
TOTAL EQUITY  (2 080 782) (9 082 348) 
    
Liabilities    
Loans and borrowings 23 28 298 535 18 045 881 
Non-current liabilities  28 298 535 18 045 881 
    
Loans and borrowings 23 44 259 616  34 798 950 
Prepayments and other payments received from clients 24 315 258  196 380  

Trade and other payables 25 12 341 716 5 883 564 
Corporate income tax payable 13 5 194 976  1 975 499  
Taxes payable 26 1 806 477  937 129  
Accrued liabilities 27 691 451 390 941  
Current liabilities  64 609 494 44 182 463  
    
Total liabilities  92 908 029  62 228 344 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities  90 827 247  53 145 997 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

  

  
Cash flows from operating activities   

    Profit before taxes  15 653 993 
Adjustments for:   

Depreciation and amortization                 675 362  
Sold portfolio write-off  65 687 986 
Net gain on financial instruments  (20 349) 
Increase in impairment allowance             9 267 937  
Write-off and disposal of intangible and property and equipment 
assets 

 105 441  

Provisions (except doubtful debt allowance)                 300 509  
Increase in reserves  199 612 
Interest income  (725 577)  
Interest expenses             8 690 606 

    Profit or loss before adjustments for the effect of changes to current assets 
and short term liabilities  

 99 835 520 

Adjustments for:   
Increase in loans and advances to customers  (93 745 839)  
Increase in other assets  (11 091 554)  
Increase in accounts payable to suppliers, contractors and other 
creditors 

 3 919 225  

    Gross cash flows from operating activities  (1 082 648)  
    Corporate income tax paid  (5 601 068) 

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (6 683 716) 
 

Cash flows from investing activities   
 Purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets   (1 252 007) 

Increase share capital                 290 909  
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired  (3 355 494) 
Loans issued to related parties  (11 078 650)  
Received loan repayment             5 347 555  
Interest received                   115 316  
Acquisition of Non-controlling interests  - 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (9 932 371) 

2019 
EUR 



The accompanying notes on pages 16 to 49 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 
 2019 

Note EUR 
Cash flows from financing activities   

Loans received and notes issued  17 627 442 
Repayment of loans  (12 253 536)  
Interest payments  (1 769 171)  
Funding received from P2P            41 298 958  
Repayment of funding received from P2P  (26 986 468)  
Dividend payments           (525 424)  

Net cash flows from financing activities  17 391 801 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  775 714 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period    2 279 009 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash  133 598 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   21 3 188 321 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

The accompanying notes on pages 16 to 49 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Currency 
translation 

reserve Reserve 
Retained 
earnings  Total equity 

Group EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

01.01.2019 
Total 
comprehensive 
income       
Profit / loss for 
the reporting 
period - - - 253 000 6 786 163 7 039 163  
Other 
comprehensive 
income - - 283 747 - - 283 747 
 
Transactions with 
shareholders 
recorded 
directly in equity 
Increase in share 
capital 320 000 - - - - 320 000 
Interim 
dividends  - - - - (587 956) (587 956) 
Elimination of 
subsidiaries 
share capital at 
01.01.2019     (53 388) (53 388) 
31.12.2019 320 000 - (44 652) 253 000 (2 609 130) (2 080 782) 

- - (328 399) - (8 753 949) (9 082 348) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Reporting entity
AS Sun Finance Group (the “Company”) is registered in Skanstes 52, Riga, Latvia, LV-1013 (reg.no: 40203205428). The 
Company is operating as the holding company for several subsidiaries in Europe, Scandinavia, Central Asia and 
South America (together referred to as the ‘Group’). The Group entities provide consumer loans to customers and 
currently the Group operates in Latvia, Denmark, Poland, Kazakhstan and Mexico.

AS Sun Finance Group was established in April 2019. In 2019 it has acquired from related and third parties the 
operating entities in Latvia, Poland, Denmark, Kazakhstan, Mexico and Malta.

(2) Basis of preparation

(a) Special purpose financial statements
The main users of the Group consolidated financial statements are financial investors currently holding Notes of the 
Group, potential Group Note holders and private investors as well as shareholders of the Company. Taking into 
account the reorganization of the Group’s structure in 2019, the statutory consolidated financial statements will 
include only after-acquisition financial results of the operating companies. Therefore, these financial statements will 
not suit all primary needs of its users who are focused not only on the financial standing of the Group, but also 
financial performance data.
To meet financial statements’ user expectations, these special purpose Group consolidated financial statements 
for the year 2019 has been prepared. In these financial statements the full 2019-year financial performance of the 
operating entities is recognized irrespective of the date of its acquisition by the Company.
In these special purpose financial statements the following departures from International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by EU (further IFRSs) have been made:

Except of the above, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU (further IFRSs).
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board on 28 August 2020. The 
shareholders have the power to reject the financial statements prepared and presented by the Board, and the 
right to request that new financial statements are prepared.

(b) Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for financial assets and 
liabilities measured at fair value.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the

1) Comprehensive income of the Group’s subsidiaries before its acquisition by the Group - income and 
expenses of the Group’s subsidiaries before its acquisition are not eliminated. Financial performance of the 
operating entities is recognized in the statement of the comprehensive income irrespective of the date of 
its acquisition by the Company.
2) Elimination of Investments in subsidiaries and Equity of subsidiaries – investments in subsidiaries are 
eliminated based on each subsidiary share capital amount and investment made by the parent company. 
For the purposes of special purpose financial statement the difference between stand-alone share capital 
and investment in subsidiary amount is reflected within Non-current financial assets as Uneliminated 
investments in subsidiaries. Retained earnings or loss of subsidiaries before its acquisition date are not 
eliminated and recognized under the consolidated retained earnings. Therefore, no goodwill has been 
recognized in these financial statements. As the parent Company of the Group has been incorporated 
only in 2019, the amount of share capital for subsidiaries at 31 December 2018 are reclassified to retained 
earnings.
3) Comparative information for 2018 in special purpose financial statements – Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flow, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and some Notes are not presented in Special 
purpose financial statements due to extensive costs to prepare it.
4) Split of the Net profit, Other Comprehensive Income and Equity attributable to Equity holders of the 
Group and Non-controlling interest – for the purpose of these Financial Statements non-controlling interest 
are not taken into consideration in order to reflect the performance of the Group irrespective of the date 
of subsidiaries’ acquisition.



31.12.2018 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 5. The Management has assessed all the main risks and 
considers it appropriate to adopt going concern basis of accounting in preparing these financial statements

(c) Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of euro (EUR), unless stated otherwise. EUR is 
chosen as presentation currency since most of the Group’s operational activities are based in European Union. 
During 2019 Group companies operated in the functional currencies of EUR, DKK, PLN, KZK and MXN respectively. 
The Company’s functional currency is EUR.

(3) Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements except for new International Accounting Standards Board standards and 
pronouncements which are applied when they become effective.

Basis of Consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those enterprises controlled by the Company as at 31 December 2019. Control exists when the 
Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities. Taking into account the special purpose of these financial statements the 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from 1 January 2018 but 
not from the date that control effectively commences. Subsidiaries are excluded from consolidated financial 
statements from the date when control effectively ceases.

(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-Group balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains/losses arising from intra-Group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Foreign currency
(i) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the operation at the 
exchange rate set by Central Bank of the country of operation at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the euro applying the reference exchange rate 
established by the Central Bank at the last day of the reporting year. The differences arising on settlements of 
transactions or on reporting foreign currency transactions at rates different from those at which these transactions 
have originally been recorded are recorded in the income statement accounts.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are 
recognised in statement of comprehensive income.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into EUR 
using the following exchange rates:

 
31.12.2019 

 
PLN 4.25680 4.30140 
DKK 7.47150 7.46730 
KZT 426.85000 439.37000 

MXN 21.22020 22.49210 
KGS  77.98000 80.04500 
UZS  9 566.00000 9 413.74000 
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(ii) Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into EUR the Company’s presentation currency at exchange 
rates set by the Central Bank at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into 
the Company’s functional currency at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency retranslation 
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income.

(iv) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise call deposits in banks and cash on hand that are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short term commitments.

(v) Financial Instruments
(i) Recognition
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Loans and advances to customers are recognized when funds are 
transferred to the customers’ accounts. All regular way purchases of financial assets are accounted for at the settlement 
date.

(ii) Classification and Measurement
A financial asset or liability is initially measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or liability not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or 
liability. Other receivables are measured at transaction price.

The Group’s assessment on particular asset classification is based on the Group’s business model on how a particular 
asset is managed and based on contractual cash flow characteristics of that asset. At initial recognition the Group, as 
prescribed by IFRS 9, distributes all financial assets into 3 measurement categories:
 - Amortised cost (AC) - The amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the   
   principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any  
   difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and adjusted for any loss allowance;
 - Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) - Financial asset measured at fair value with   
   unrealized changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income;
 - Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) - Financial asset measured at fair value with realized and unrealized  
   changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.
Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets require special AC measurement treatment. For third party 
purchased credit-impaired financial assets AC measurement a credit adjusted effective interest rate is applied, meaning 
that projected future cash-flows need to include expected cash losses compared to contractual cash flow amounts.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets, including derivatives that are assets, are measured at their fair values, 
without any deduction for transaction costs that may be incurred on sale or other disposal, except for loans and 
receivables that are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
All financial liabilities, other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at amortised cost. 
Amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest rate method. Premiums and discounts, including initial transaction 
costs, are included in the carrying amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate of 
the instrument.

(iii) Business model assessment
The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to 
achieve its business objective - the risks that affect the performance of the business model and the way those risks are 
managed. The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Group’s assessment. The 
business model assessment is based on reasonably expected. If cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a way 
that is different from the Group's original expectations, the Group does not change the classification of the remaining 
financial assets held in that business model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly 
purchased financial assets going forward. The assessed business model is with the intention to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows, but when assets no longer meet the credit risk criteria of the Group credit policy – to sell 
the underperformed portfolio.

(iv) Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)
A financial asset is classified as measured at amortized cost when it meets SPPI criteria and is managed under held to 
collect business model. The SPPI test requires consideration whether the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise,
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on specific dates, to cash flows that are solely payment of principal and interest. The most significant elements of interest 
for the Group are typically the consideration for the time value of money and credit risk.
All of the Group’s lending products are tested and meet the SPPI criteria. SPPI tests are mandatory and are performed 
during new product development or modification of current product features.

(v) Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or when the 
Group transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. Any rights or obligations 
created or retained in the transfer are recognized separately as assets or liabilities. A financial liability is derecognised 
when it is extinguished.
If the Group repurchases a part of a financial liability, the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial 
liability between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is derecognised based on the relative fair 
values of those parts on the date of the repurchase. The difference between (a) the carrying amount allocated to the 
part derecognised and (b) the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, for the 
part derecognised recognised in profit or loss.

(vi) Modification of financial assets and liabilities
Any modification to financial contract that is measured at amortised cost needs to be either derecognised or 
appropriately measured if modification is considered as non-substantial. Both qualitative and quantitative factors are 
considered in order to assess if the modification is substantial or not. For modifications that do not result in derecognition, 
the gross carrying amount of the asset is recalculated by discounting the modified contractual cash flows using original 
effective interest rate (EIR) that was effective before modification. Changes in the contractual cash flows of the asset are 
recognized in statement of comprehensive income and any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the 
modified financial asset and are amortized over the remaining term of the modified instrument. Therefore, the original 
effective interest rate (EIR) determined at initial recognition is revised on modification to reflect any costs or fees incurred.

(vii) Fair value measurement principles
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which 
the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole:
 - Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
 - Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
   is directly or indirectly observable
 - Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
   is unobservable.
When applicable, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted price in an active market for that 
instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and 
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
When there is no quoted price in an active market, the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all 
the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.
The key financial instruments of the Company and the Group are cash, trade receivables and loans to customers, loans 
to related parties, loans received and bonds issued, trade payables and other creditors arising from the business activities.

(viii) Loans and advances
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. All Group loans are managed under "held to collect" business model with contractual cash-flows 
representing solely payments of principal and interest.
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements trade receivables and loans to customers are accounted for 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. An impairment loss allowance for credit losses is established.
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(vi) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment in value. Where an item of property and equipment comprises major components having different useful 
lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property and equipment.

(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the individual 
assets. Depreciation commences on the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time 
an asset is completed and ready for use. The carrying values of equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where 
the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to 
their recoverable amount. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
  
  Computer equipment    3 years
  Furniture     3 years
  Leasehold improvements   over lease term
  Other property and equipment   5 years

(vii) Intangible assets
Intangible non-current assets, other than Goodwill, are stated at cost and amortized over their estimated useful lives on a 
straight-line basis. The carrying values of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Losses from impairment are recognized where 
the carrying value of intangible non-current assets exceeds their recoverable amount.
Amortization is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible 
assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
  
  Concessions, patents, licenses, trademarks and similar rights  5 years
  Software and other intangible assets     3 years

(i) Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated intangible assets primarily include the development costs of Group's information management 
systems. These costs are capitalized only if they satisfy the criteria as defined by IAS38 and described below.
Internal and external development costs on management information systems arising from the development phase are 
capitalized. Significant maintenance and improvement costs are added to the initial cost of assets if they specifically 
meet the capitalization criteria.
Internally generated intangible assets cost value is increased by Group's information technology costs - salaries and social 
security contribution capitalization. Asset useful life is reassessed by management at each year end and amortization 
periods adapted accordingly.
Internally generated intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives of 4 years, software and other intangible assets 
- over 3 years. The main internally generated intangible assets are CRM systems.
According to IAS38, development costs shall be capitalized if, and only if, the Group can meet all of the following criteria:

-  the project is clearly identified and the related costs are itemized and reliably monitored;
-  the technical and industrial feasibility of completing the project is demonstrated;
-  there is a clear intention to complete the project and to use or sell the intangible asset arising from it;
-  the Group has the ability to use or sell the intangible asset arising from the project;
-  the Group can demonstrate how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
-  the Group has adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the project and to use or sell the  
 intangible asset.

When these conditions are not satisfied, development costs generated by the Group are recognized as an expense 
when incurred.
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Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when development is completed 
and the asset is available for use.

Additional information is included in Notes 16.

(viii) Impairment
(i) Financial assets – loans and receivables due from customers
At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are impaired. The Group analyses its portfolio of loans and receivables due from customers by 
segregating receivables in categories according to each receivables days past due (DPD) metrics. The collective 
expected credit loss model (ECL) that is predominantly based on DPD is applied by the Group in assessment of 
impairment for loans and receivables due from customers. IFRS 9 accelerates the recognition of impairment losses and 
leads to higher impairment allowances at the date of initial application.
The Group continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument or a portfolio of 
instruments is subject to 12m ECL or LTECL, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition.

The Group segregates loans and receivables due from customers in the following categories:
 1) Not past due
 2) 1-30 days past due
 3) 31-60 days past due
 4) 61-90 days past due
 5) 91+ days past due

Definition of default
The Group considers majority of financial instruments as defaulted based on each market basis when the contractual 
payments are overdue more than 90 days. Specific market financial instrument is considered as defaulted when 
contractual payments are overdue more than 45 and 61 days. In certain cases, however, a financial asset might be 
considered as defaulted when internal or external information indicates that it is unlikely that the Group will receive all 
outstanding contractual cash-flows without taking any debt collection actions.
Loan portfolio is grouped into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, based on the applied impairment methodology, as 
described below:

-  Stage 1 – Initial recognition of loans. Part of loan portfolio where no significant increase in credit risk has   
 occurred (0 -30 days past due), Group recognizes an allowance based on twelve month expected credit   
 losses for single payment loans and twelve months expected credit losses for line of credit.
-  Stage 2 - Loans with significant increase in credit risk (31 – 90 days past due). When a loan shows a significant  
 increase in credit risk since initial recognition, Group records an allowance for the lifetime expected credit loss.
-  Stage 3 - Defaulted loans. Financial assets are recognized in Stage 3 when there is objective evidence that the  
 loan is impaired (91 + days past due). Group recognizes the lifetime expected credit losses for these loans   
 setting PD at level of 100%.

The expected credit loss is calculated as a function of the probability of default (PD), the exposure at default (EAD) and 
the loss given default (LGD). Where:

-  The Probability of Default (PD) is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon;
-  The Exposure at Default (EAD) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account   
 expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments, whether scheduled by   
 contract or otherwise;
-  The Loss Given Default (LGD) is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given   
 time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would  
 expect to receive, including from the realization of any collateral sell of defaulted loans. It is usually expressed  
 as a percentage of the EAD. LGD is based on discounted cash flows on defaulted loans.
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The Group in 2019 transitioned to PD calculation based on count instead of amount which resulted in release of provisions in 
total amount of EUR 103 thousand. The Group transitioned to count based PD calculations in order to reflect more accurate 
and fair view on performance of loan portfolio. In several markets loan amounts are lower than the average amounts in the 
Group and in case of default does not give fair evaluation of PD, therefore Group transitioned to count based PD 
calculation.

The amount of the expected credit losses is measured as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that are expected to be received (i.e., all cash shortfalls), discounted 
at the original effective interest rate (EIR).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and recognition of the loss in 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Allowances for credit losses on loans and receivables are assessed collectively. 
Collectively assessed impairment allowances cover credit losses inherent in portfolios of loans with similar credit risk 
characteristics when there is objective evidence to suggest that they contain impaired financial assets, but the individual 
impaired items cannot yet be identified.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses statistical modelling of historical trends of the probability of default, timing 
of recoveries and the amount of expected loss, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic 
and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical modelling. 
Default rates, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes 
to ensure that they remain appropriate. Specific individual impairment testing is not undertaken since the loan portfolio 
consists of a large number of small exposure loans that would make individual impairment testing impractical.

Impairment losses on portfolios of assets carried at amortized cost are measured as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated discounted future cash flows. Impairment losses are 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income and reflected in an allowance account against loans receivable. 
When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed 
through the statement of comprehensive income. The maximum period for which the credit losses are determined is the 
contractual life of a financial instrument.

(ii) Impairment of financial assets other than loans and receivables due from customers

Financial assets where the Group calculates ECL on an individual basis or collective basis are:
-  Other receivables from customers/contract assets
-  Trade receivables
-  Loans to related parties
-  Cash and cash equivalents

Impairment for other assets - for other receivables and contract assets that are not related to lease portfolio receivables, the 
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but 
instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The ECL recorded is based on its historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
Impairment for loans to related parties - Receivables from related parties inherently are subject to the Group’s credit risk. 
Therefore, a benchmarked PD and LGD rate - based on corporate statistics studies has been applied in determining the 
ECLs.
Impairment of cash and cash equivalents - For cash and cash equivalents default is considered as soon as balances are not 
cleared beyond conventional banking settlement timeline, i.e., a few days. Therefore, transition is straight from Stage 1 to 
Stage 3 given the low number of days that it would take the exposure to reach Stage 3 classification, meaning default.

(ix) Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect of the time 
value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. The 
expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.
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In 2019 the Group has implemented IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment. Under IFRIC 23 the Group recognize 
the provisions for the potential tax liabilities if is not probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax 
treatment. Provisions estimated using either of the following methods, depending on which method the entity expects to 
better predict the resolution of the uncertainty: (a) the most likely amount - the single most likely amount in a range of possible 
outcomes; or (b) the expected value - the sum of the probability-weighted amounts in a range of possible outcomes.

A contingent liability is disclosed when there is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the entity; or a present obligation that arises from past events, but is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or the amount of the obligation cannot 
be measured with sufficient reliability.

Provisions for tax liabilities

Significant management judgement is used for estimating provisions in relation to tax amounts disputed with tax authorities. 
The Group’s management has assessed all potential contingencies regarding taxes and evaluated probability of any 
contingencies arising from them to be low, therefore no reliable contingent liability should be disclosed.
Accruals for unused vacations
As at the period end, a accrued expense for unused vacations has been recognized in accordance with local legislation in 
each separate country of operation and is based on the number of vacation days unused as at 31 December 2019 and 
historical remuneration.

(x) Share Capital and reserves
(i) Currency revaluation reserve
The currency revaluation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations into functional and presentation currencies.

(ii) Share based payments
The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an 
appropriate valuation model. That cost is recognized in employee benefits expense, together with a corresponding increase 
in equity (Reserves), over the period when the performance conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). The cumulative 
expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which 
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.

(xi) Leases – the Group as lessee
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a 
lease in IFRS 16.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of use asset is 
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove 
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end 
of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the 
cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and 
equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The Group 
determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external
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The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change 
in future lease payments. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero.

Initial recognition exemptions applied
As a recognition exemption the Group elects not to apply the recognition requirements of right-of-use asset and lease liability 
to:

-  Short term leases – for all classes of underlying assets; and
-  Leases of low-value assets – on a lease-by-lease basis.

For leases qualifying as short-term leases and/or leases of low-value assets, the Group does not recognize a lease  
liability or right-of-use asset. The Group recognizes the lease payments associated with those leases as an expense   
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

-  Short term leases - short-term lease is a lease that, at the commencement date, has a lease term of 12 months or  
 less. A lease that contains a purchase option is not a short-term lease. This lease exemption is applied for all classes  
 of underlying  assets.
-  Leases of low-value assets

The Group defines a low-value asset as one:
-  that has a value, when new of 2 000 EUR or less. Group assesses the value of an underlying asset based on the value  
 of the asset when it is new, regardless of the age of the asset being leased;
- the Group can benefit from use of the assets on its own, or together with, other resources that are readily available  
 to the Group; and
-  the underlying asset is not dependent on, or highly interrelated with, other assets.

(xii) Transactions with peer-to-peer platforms
Certain subsidiaries, as loan originators, have signed cooperation agreements with operator of a peer-to-peer (P2P) 
investment internet-based platform. Cooperation agreements and the related assignment agreements are in force until 
parties agree to terminate. Purpose of the cooperation agreement for the Group is to attract funding through the P2P 
platform.

P2P platform is acting as an agent in transferring cash flows between the Group and investors. Receivable for attracted 
funding from investors through P2P platform corresponds to the due payments from P2P platform. The Group retains the legal 
title to its debt instruments (including payment collection), but transfers a part of equitable title and interest to investors 
through P2P platform.
Receivable is arising from assignments made through P2P platform where the related investment is not yet transferred to the 
Group (Note 20).

P2P platform commissions and service fees incurred by the Group are fees charged by P2P platform for servicing the funding 
attracted through peer-to-peer platform and are disclosed in Note 7 and Note 9.

Funding attracted through peer-to-peer platform
Liabilities arising from assignments with or without recourse rights are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the 
consideration received from investors net of issue costs associated with the loan.

Liabilities to investors are recognized in statement of financial position caption Loans and borrowings attracted through 
peer-to-peer platform (Note 23) and are treated as loans received.

Assignments with recourse rights (buy back guarantee)
Assignments with recourse rights provide for direct recourse to the Group, thus do not meet the requirements to be classified 
as pass-through arrangement in accordance with IFRS 9. Specifically, neither investors, nor the P2P platform bear any risks in 
relation to creditworthiness of the Group's borrower. The Group is obliged, on first demand of the P2P platform, to repay all 
monies due if loan agreement with borrower defaults. Additionally, the Group retains the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the financial asset.

Therefore, the Group’s respective debt instruments do not qualify to be considered for partial derecognition and interest 
expense paid to investors is shown in gross amount under Interest expense calculated using effective interest method.



25

AS Sun Finance Group Special Purpose Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(xiii) Dividends
Dividend distribution to the shareholders of the Group is recognized as a liability and as distribution of retained earnings in the 
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders, the later applicable also for 
interim dividends.

(xiv) Taxation
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the income statement except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

(i) Current tax – general terms
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income derived from current year’s earned profit and adjustments 
of taxable income, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years.

(ii) Current tax for entities in Latvia
In Latvia legal entities are not required to pay income tax on earned profits in accordance with local legislation on Corporate 
Income Tax. Instead of this, Corporate income tax would be paid at 20% rate on distributed profits and deemed profit 
distributions. Corporate income tax on dividends would be recognized in the statement of profit and loss as expense in the 
reporting period when respective dividends are declared, while, as regards other deemed profit items, at the time when 
expense is incurred in the reporting year. The Group has decided to use these beneficial tax regimes to reinvest profits in 
further development of respective subsidiaries, therefore it does not plan to distribute dividends from subsidiaries in these 
countries in the next 3 years.

(iii) Deferred tax – general terms
Deferred tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary 
differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(iv) Deferred tax for entities in Latvia
Under IAS 12 Income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities should be recognized by applying a rate expected to be 
applied to retained earnings. Taking into account the specific nature of Corporate income tax law the rate 20% is only 
applied to distributed profits, while the 0% rate applied to retained earnings. Therefore, no deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are recognisable as nil. The contingent tax liability reflecting the obligation that would arise on the distribution of 
dividends and deemed profit distribution is not recognized as liability in the balance sheet. Maximum possible tax liability in 
case all retained earnings were distributed is disclosed in Note 14.

(xv) Income and expense recognition
All significant income and expense categories including interest income and expenses are recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income on an accrual basis.

(i) Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest rate 
method. Loan extension fees and refinancing fees classified as part of the interest income. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 
or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, 
but not future credit losses.
Revenue is not recognized when there is doubt whether the cost of services will be covered.
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(ii) Fee and commission income and expenses
Fees and commissions are recognised as the related services are performed and control over a service is 
transferred to a customer. Over time revenue recognition is proportional to progress towards satisfying a 
performance obligation by transferring control of promised services to a customer. Income which does not qualify 
for recognition over time is recognised at a point in time when the service is rendered.

(iii) Fines received
Income from fines are recognized as received.

(iv) Income from management services
The Group provides management services to its related parties. Income is recognized at an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for providing these services. The 
performance obligation is satisfied as the respective service is being provided.

(xvi) Fair value of employee share options
Group’s employees have entered a share option agreements with Parent Company or Subsidiaries. Under the 
agreements respective employees obtain rights to acquire Parent company’s or certain subsidiaries’ shares under 
several graded vesting scenarios. The respective option would be classified as an equity-settled share-based 
payment transaction in Group’s financial statements in accordance with IFRS 2. There are cash settlement 
alternatives. Group record expenses related to this transaction and recognize a respective component of equity.

(xvii) Related parties
The parties are considered related when one party has a possibility to control the other one or has significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties of the Group are 
shareholders who could control or who have significant influence over the Group in accepting operating business 
decisions, key management personnel of the Group including members of Supervisory body – Audit committee 
and close family members of any above-mentioned persons, as well as entities over which those persons have a 
control or significant influence.

(xviii) Non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results and of the equity of a subsidiary attributable to interests which 
are not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Group. As disclosed in Note 2 a) Special purpose financial statements, 
non-controlling interest are not taken into consideration in order to reflect the performance of the Group for the full 
year 2019.

(xix) Changes in accounting policies
Except for the changes below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies set out in Note 3 to all 
periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

New standards and interpretations adopted
The Group have adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including any 
consequential amendments to other standards, with a date of initial application of 1 January 2019 Taking into 
account that the Group does not present full information on comparative period for the year 2018, all new 
standards and interpretations transitional requirements and expedient on transition are not fully applicable to these 
financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases
The Group applied IFRS 16 with the date of initial application of 1 January 2019. As a result, the Group has changed 
its subsidiaries’ operating lease contract recognition and measurement policy. The Group applied IFRS 16 using the 
modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of initial application is recognized in the 
retained earnings at 1January 2019.
Under IFRS 16 the Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for the most leases with an exemption of 
operating lease contracts with duration less than 1 year or with low-value items with the value EUR 2 000 when new. 
As a lessor there were no direct impacts for the Group. See description of the applied accounting policy in Note 3 
section “Leases”.

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which did not have a significant effect to the Group:
– IFRIC23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment
– Amendments to IFRS 9 – Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
– Amendments to IAS 28 – Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
– Amendments to IAS 19 – Plan Amendments, Curtailment or Settlement
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– Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015-2017 Cycle – Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS2

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued and endorsed in the EU but not yet effective

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 January 2019, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 
Those which may be relevant to the Group are set out below.

-  References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards - Amendments (effective for annual periods     
 beginning on or after 1 January 2020).
-  IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material - Amendments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1  
 January 2020).
-  IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Amendments (effective for annual periods   
 beginning on or after 1 January 2020).

The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early. None of these amendments are expected to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group

Standards, amendments and interpretations, issued but not yet endorsed by the EU

-  IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021)
- IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments (effective for annual periods   
 beginning on or after 1 January 2022).IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37 - Amendments (effective for annual periods  
 beginning on or after 1 January 2022).

The Group has not yet assessed the impact of the above standards, amendments and interpretations on the 
Group's accounting policies and financial statements.

(4) Risk management
Key financial risks related to the Group’s financial instruments are:

- Credit risk
- Liquidity Market risks
- Operational risks
- Reputational risks

Management has implemented procedures to control the key risks.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a counterparty/customer fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises primarily from the Group’s loans and advances to customers. This includes scenarios where 
the customer makes payments late, only partially, or not at all. The Group’s customers generally have higher 
frequency of delinquencies, higher risk of non-payment and, thus, higher credit losses than customers who are 
served by traditional providers of consumer credit. The Group’s Credit Policy defines lending guidelines according 
to the business strategy and efficient risk management, protecting the Group’s assets as well as complying with the 
local regulatory requirements. Loan credit risk is managed by multiple triggers that are analysed prior to the loan 
being issued, including customer credit history checks and revenue levels. The triggers exclude any possibility of 
judgment as scoring is done automatically and is based on statistical evidence. Specific credit scoring models are 
adjusted to specific countries requirements and tendencies. Credit scoring models are periodically reviewed and 
if necessary adjusted to follow market and specific client group tendencies. Performance of different customer 
groups is analysed on a regular basis.The Group has established efficient debt collection processes across all the 
Group’s business units. All debt collection methods in each operating market, procedures and instructions which 
are in place, are adjusted to comply with local legislation and reflect, in the Group’s view, best practices in the 
market. The Group’s regular debt collection processes are executed already before payment due date in order to 
collect cash and to reduce the volume of potentially delayed payments. If cash flows after initial recognition are 
realized in a way that is different from the Group's original expectations – held to collect, the Group does not 
change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model as initially business model is 
based on held to collect principle. The assessed business model is with the intention to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows. Sales that take place from these portfolios relate to credit events. Loans from 
portfolios might be sold to debt collector agencies when underlying debtors have defaulted on their obligations. 
When, and only when, an entity changes its business model for managing financial assets it shall reclassify all 
affected financial assets.
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No financial liability reclassifications take place. The Group has also implemented strong NPL management driven 
by automatic forward sales of overdue loans in most of the markets. The Group’s key elements of success are high 
quality loan portfolio, best practices sharing process across countries, implementation of continuous improvements 
in its debt collection approach and team of qualified and motivated specialists. Management believes that 
current procedures are sufficient to effectively monitor credit risk of customer groups, in addition the structure of 
portfolio is based on many small value loans as a result separate customer exposure cannot cause material losses 
to the Company. Quantitative information on the Group’s credit risks is disclosed in Note 35.

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity position of the Group is managed 
by the Treasury department. The Group manages its liquidity risk by arranging an adequate amount of committed 
credit facilities with related parties and by issuing bonds. The Management believes that current procedures are 
sufficient to effectively monitor and manage liquidity risk of the Group. Maturity analysis on the Group’s financial 
assets and liabilities is disclosed in Notes 32.

(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that movements in market prices, including foreign exchange rates, interest rates, credit 
spreads and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its portfolios. Market risks comprise currency 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. Market risk arises from open positions in interest rate and currency financial 
instruments, which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of 
market prices.
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, whilst optimizing the return on risk.

(d) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that movements in interest rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its portfolios 
of financial assets. The Group is not exposed to interest rate risk because all of its liabilities are interest bearing 
borrowings with a fixed interest rate.

(e) Currency risk
The Group has assets and liabilities denominated in several foreign currencies. Foreign currency risk arises when the 
actual or forecasted assets in a foreign currency are either greater or less than the liabilities in that currency.
An analysis of sensitivity of the Group’s net income for the year and equity to changes in the foreign currency 
exchange rates based on positions existing as at 31 December 2019 and a simplified scenario of a 5% change in 
DKK, PLN, KZT and MXN to EUR exchange rates is as follows:

(f) Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or factors affecting all instruments 
traded in the market. Price risk arises when the Group takes a long or short position in a financial instrument.

The Group is not exposed to price risk as it does not hold financial instruments dependant on changes in market 
prices.

 31 December 2019 

 Net income Equity 
 EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000 
5% appreciation of DKK against EUR 447 447 
5% depreciation of DKK against EUR (447) (447) 
5% appreciation of PLN against EUR 990 990 
5% depreciation of PLN against EUR (990) (990) 
5 % appreciation of KZT against EUR 860 860 
5% depreciation of KZT against EUR (860) (860) 
5% appreciation of MXN against EUR 138 138 
5% depreciation of MXN against EUR (138) (138) 
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(g) Operational risks
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s 
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and 
liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of 
corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations.

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and 
damage to the Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict 
initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is 
assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development of 
overall Group standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:

-  requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of   
 transactions
-  regulatory and compliance risks
-  documentation of controls and procedures
-  anti-money laundering and Know Your Customer laws compliance risk
-  data protection compliance risk

(h) Capital management
Capital management of the Group is not controlled by any requirements set by regulatory institutions or 
international bodies. The Group considers both equity capital as well as borrowings a part of overall capital risk 
management strategy. The Group manages its equity capital position on a regular basis, to ensure that it will be 
able to continue as a going concern. The Group monitors equity capital on the basis of the capitalization ratio as 
defined in Terms and Conditions of Notes. This ratio is calculated as Net worth (the sum of paid in capital, retained 
earnings, reserves and subordinated loan) divided by Net Loan portfolio. In order to maintain or adjust the overall 
capital structure, the Group may issue new Notes, borrow in P2P platform or sell assets to reduce debt. For 
commitments and contingencies related to capital management refer to Note 36.

(5) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the significant judgements made by management in 
applying the Group’s accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty were the same as those 
applied to the consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are:

•     Allowances for credit losses on loans and receivables (see Note 19)
The measurement of impairment losses under IFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets in scope requires 
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values 
when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates 
are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances. The Group’s 
ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the 
choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered 
accounting judgements and estimates include Probability of Default and Loss Given Default, judgment is 
applied also when determining significant increase in credit risk.

•      Recoverability of deferred tax asset
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgment is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level 
of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The deferred tax assets are recognized 
based on profitability assumptions over 3 year horizon. In developing these assumptions the Group considers 
both positive and negative evidence of past performance and future development plans to ensure that 
assumptions used are reasonable, realistic and achievable. The future taxable profit of 2020-2021 has been 
approved by the Management Board, while 2022 is considered as plausible taxable profit of the Group. 
Budgeting models used are the same as the ones used in goodwill
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impairment tests. At each reporting date, the Group’s management analyses the recoverability of deferred 
tax and reduces the deferred tax asset if it is no longer probable that during the period of utilization of tax losses 
future taxable profits will be available against which unused tax losses can be utilized.

•      Capitalization of development costs
For capitalization of expenses in process of developing Group's enterprise resource planning (ERP) system and 
other IT systems management uses certain assumptions. Capitalization of salary expenses of IT personnel is 
based on employee time sheets and personnel involved in development dedicate up to 70% of their time on 
developing new functionality. Therefore up to 70% of salary expenses of involved personnel are capitalized 
under Other intangible assets while remaining 30% are recognized as salary expenses in Statement of profit 
and loss.

•      Fair value of employee share options (see Note 31)
The Group’s employees have entered a share option agreement with the Parent Company or the Parent 
Company’s shareholders and Subsidiaries. Under the agreements respective employees obtain rights to 
acquire Parent company’s or certain subsidiaries’ shares under several graded vesting scenarios. The 
respective option would be classified as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction in Group’s 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 2. There are cash settlement alternatives. Given 
absence of an ongoing sale of any of Subsidiaries or the Parent or any listing process initiated and other 
relevant cash settlement events, then cash settlement is considered not to be probable and the Group does 
not have a present obligation to settle in cash.

In estimating fair value for the share option the most appropriate valuation model would depend on the terms and 
conditions of the grant. In 2019 fair value of employee share options has been estimated by first establishing the fair 
value at the grant date of the relevant issuer company/group applying discounted cash flow valuation 
methodology and same assumptions as the ones used in value in use estimation. Subsequently, the estimate is 
adjusted by the number of options granted, vesting period and the employee turnover rates in the respective 
grade. During the fair value estimation process the Management has considered the financial position of the 
Subsidiaries that have issued share options, the particular features mentioned in the option agreements, such as 
buy-back options, non-competition clauses embedded in the agreements, restrictions of sales of shares, as well as 
dividend policy of the Parent Company (for both of the plans described in Note 31).

• Lease term determination under IFRS 16 (see Note 15)
IFRS 16 requires that in determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period of a 
lease, an entity shall determine the period for which the contract is enforceable. In assessment of lease term 
determination the Group considers the enforceable rights and obligations of both parties. If both the lessee and the 
lessor can terminate the contract without more than an insignificant penalty at any time at or after the end of the 
non-cancellable term, then there are no enforceable rights and obligations beyond the non-cancellable term. For 
lease agreements without a fixed term and agreements that are “rolled over” on monthly basis until either party 
gives notice the Group considers that it does have enforceable rights and obligations under such agreements, 
therefore a reasonable estimate of the lease term assessment is made.
When determining the lease term, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive for the lessee to exercise an option to renew or not to exercise an option to terminate early. 
When assessing whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend, or not to exercise an 
option to terminate early, the economic reasons underlying the Group's past practice regarding the period over 
which it has typically used particular types of assets (whether leased or owned) are considered. Furthermore, the 
following factors are considered: level of rentals in any secondary period compared with market rates, contingent 
payments, renewal and purchase options, costs relating to the termination of the lease and the signing of a new 
replacement lease, costs to return the underlying asset, nature and the level of specialization of the leased assets, 
asset location, availability of suitable alternatives and existence of significant leasehold improvements.
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(6) Interest income
Interest income represents revenue generated during the reporting period from the Group’s basic activities - 
consumer loans. Interest income includes loan commission income, extension fees, refinancing fees, issuance fees 
and penalty fee income. Interest income for loans issued to related and other parties is classified under Other 
operating income.

(7) Interest expense

(9) Operating costs

(8) Net impairment losses on loans

   
  2019

EUR 
 
 

2018
EUR

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method   101 475 796          36 465 439  
         101 475 796           36 465 439 

 2019
EUR 

 
 

2018
EUR

 2019
EUR 

 
 

2018
EUR

 2019
EUR 

 
 

2018
EUR

  

Interest expenses for loans from peer-to-peer platform investors            5 092 308               1 260 170  
Interest expense on issued bonds                293 715                              -    
Interest expense for loans from related parties                220 796                     93 105  
Interest expense for loans from non-related parties            3 056 155  2 640 058  
Interest expense for lease liabilities 27 633                              -    
 8 690 606               3 993 333  

  

Impairment losses on loans 37 811 814 15 867 552 
Reversal of provision on debt portfolio sales (28 543 877) (5 179 981) 

             9 267 937  10 687 571 

  

Personnel costs (see also Note 31 Share-based payments)                                10 220 839                         4 891 764  
Marketing and sponsorship                                4 245 209                         3 717 710  
IT expenses 1 180 104  448 396  
Amortization and depreciation                                    675 362                             290 709  
Legal and consulting                                    428 305                             270 863  
Application inspection costs                                2 265 814                         1 310 878  
Debt collection costs                                   757 584                             173 447  
Bank services                                1 275 093                             568 282  
Communication expenses                                   828 945                             451 516  
Rent expenses and utilities 700 867 319 526 
Office expenses 404 477 156 298 
Outsourced operational services 7 225 421 4 643 650 
Service fee for peer-to-peer platform 639 559 51 424 
Other costs                                539 357                         441 850  

 31  386 935 17 736 311  
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Key management personnel is considered to be all Group top management employees, regional management 
employees and country managers. There are no emoluments granted for current and for former members of the 
management and commitments in respect of retirement pensions for former members of the management. See 
also Note 31 Share-based payments.

*The Group provides management services to its related parties and other parties. In 2019 the Group provided 
management services to entities which have been acquired respectively in January, 2020 and April, 2020 (see Note 
38 Subsequent events).

(10) Other operating income

(12) Net foreign exchange result

(11) Other operating expense

* - Including vacation accruals

Key management personnel compensation 
 

2019 2018 

Members of the board   
Remuneration* 477 918 518 865 
Social security contribution expenses 84 678 142 817 
Total 562 596 661 681 

 2019  2018

Average number of employees   
Senior management/Executives 18 13 
Employees 698 214 
Total 716 227 

2019 
EUR 

2018 
EUR 

Income from management services* 3 136 302 632 466 
Interest income from issued loans to related and other parties 725 577 323 501 
Other income 48 550 6 989 
 3 910 430 962 956 

  2019 
EUR 

2018 
EUR 

Other personnel expenses 165 590 73 726 
Loss from disposal of subsidiary - 423 160 
Non-deductible VAT costs 329 019  217 300 
Penalties paid 224 279 6 658 
Donation 25 562 - 
Other expenses 33 595 4 274 
 778 046 725 118 

   
 

Currency exchange gain 3 062 698 919 165 
Currency exchange loss (2 588 977) (1 667 254) 
 473 721 (748 089) 

2019 
EUR 

2018 
EUR 



2019 
EUR 
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(13) Corporate income tax

Current corporate income tax rate for the Group subsidiaries are the following: in Latvia – 20% or 20/80 of the net 
amount of distributed profit or deemed profit (in addition see Note 14), in Kazakhstan – 20%, in Poland – 19%, in 
Denmark – 22%, in Mexico – 30%.

Reconciliation of effective income tax:

Tax rate for the Group’s parent company for year 2019 - 20% (2018 - 20%). The effective tax rate of the Group in 2019 
was 56,6%. The effective tax rate in 2019 and 2018 was mainly impacted by the fact that the impairment (provisions) 
for loans and receivables are recognised as non-deductible for the corporate income tax purposes in Poland and 
Kazakhstan and thus is considered as a permanent difference. Management utilizes both in-house tax expertise 
and external consultants to ensure compliance with tax legislation in the countries in which the Group operates.

  

Corporate income tax 8 513 213 1 832 879 
Deferred corporate income tax (58 346) 95 496 

Withholding tax 412 963 160 262 

 8 867 830 2 088 637 

2018 
EUR 

2019 
EUR 

2018 
EUR 

Corporate income tax payable 5 194 976 1 975 499 

  2019 
EUR 

2018 
EUR 

Profit before corporate income tax 15 653 993 (2 120 340) 
Theoretical corporate income tax at the applicable rate * 3 192 750 - 

Withholding tax 412 963 160 262 

Tax effect of permanent differences related to non-deductible expenses 5 273 468 1 928 375 

Corporate income tax for the reporting year 8 867 830 2 088 637 
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(14) Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax relates to the following temporary differences:
Movement in temporary differences during the year ended 31 December 2019

At the year-end 2019 the Group has recognised a deferred corporate income tax asset in total amount of EUR 428 
639 in subsidiaries located in following countries: Kazakhstan, Poland and Denmark. Deferred corporate income tax 
asset of EUR 58 346 as an increase impacted the Group’s profit or loss statement of the year ended 31 December 
2019. All the tax asset recognised is considered as recoverable based on projected performance and results of 
subsidiaries. In 2019 the net operating loss of previous years of the Group subsidiaries in Poland was utilised in full 
amount.

In Latvia deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised due to the fundamental changes in the corporate 
income tax legislation as being effective from 1 January 2018. Starting from 1 January 2018 the corporate income 
tax in Latvia should be assessed and paid only upon the profit distribution or deemed profit distribution. As the 
corporate income tax in Latvia at the rate of 20 per cent would be levied on the gross amount of distributed profit 
and deemed profit or the net amount of profit distribution would be subject to the tax of 20/80, then the 
unrecognized deferred tax liability for the retained profit in Latvia as at 31 December 2019 would amount to EUR 
321 020.

 
Deferred tax 

asset/(liability) EUR 
Net balance  

1 January 2019 
Net balance  

31 December 2019 

Profit or loss statement 
31 December 2019 

Tax loss carry-forward 20 891 - (20 910) 

Impairment and write-off losses on 
loans and receivables 266 935 286 887 18 931 
Unused vacation and other cost 
accruals - 10 714 10 636 
Fixed assets - 15 15 
Other assets/ (liabilities) 76 026 131 023 49 674 
Net deferred corporate income tax 
assets/ (liabilities)  363 852 428 639 58 346 
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(15) Property and equipment

(16) Intangible assets

Total 
Computer 

equipment  
Other 

equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements 
Right-of-use 

assets  

 

  EUR EUR EUR EUR  EUR 
Cost       
31.12.2018 462 707 110 476 - -  573 183 
Additions  270 931 341 373 159 016 -  771 320 
Disposals and write-offs (43 886) (75 378) - -  (119 264) 
Reclassification - - - 1 963 157  1 963 157 
Effect of changes in foreign 
exchange rates 6 884 1 476 

 
- 

 
1 702 

 
10 062 

31.12.2019 696 636 377 947 159 016 1 964 859  3 198 458 
       
Accumulated depreciation       
31.12.2018 94 140 19 795 - -  113 935 
Depreciation  195 944 44 256 - 118 249  358 449 
Disposals and write-offs (21 487) (23 937) - -  (45 424) 
Reclassification (161 426) (11 851) - -  (173 277) 
Effect of changes in foreign 
exchange rates 868 212 

- 
516 

 
1 596 

31.12.2019 108 039 28 475 - 118 765  255 279 
       
Balance as at 31.12.2018 368 567 90 681 - -  459 248 
Balance as at 31.12.2019 588 597 349 472 159 016 1 846 094  2 943 179 

EUR 
 

Internally developed 
intangible assets 

Other intangible 
assets

 
 Total 

 EUR EUR 
Cost    
31.12.2018 793 842 60 693 854 535 
Additions  433 954 46 733 480 687 
Disposals - (42 196) (42 196) 
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates - 989 989 
31.12.2019 1 227 796 66 219 1 294 015 
    
Accumulated amortisation    
31.12.2018 199 256 2 603 201 859 
Amortisation  310 674 6 239 316 913  
Amortisation of disposals (10 595) - (10 595) 
Reclassification (499 335) - (499 335) 
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates - 129 129 
31.12.2019 - 8 971 8 971 

    
Balance as at 31.12.2018 594 586 58 090 652 676 
Balance as at 31.12.2019 1 227 796 57 248 1 285 044 
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(17) Other loans and receivables

Other loans and receivables inherently are subject to the Group’s credit risk. Therefore, a benchmarked PD and 
LGD rate - based on S&P Global rating corporate statistics studies has been applied in determining the ECLs. ECL 
was assessed for these receivables and concluded insignificant, therefore no ECLs are recognized.

* In 2020 the Group has acquired these entities in the course of the Group’s geographical expanding (see Note 38 
Subsequent Events).

Detailed information regarding loans to related parties can be seen below:

  31.12.2019 
EUR 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

   
Loans to other companies 9 017 809 2 605 888 
Loans to individuals  48 404 53 630 
 9 066 213 2 659 518 

  

   
Long term   
Loans to other companies 5 714 081  2 605 888 
Loans to individuals  36 991 53 630 
 5 751 072 2 659 518 
   
Short term   
Loans to other companies 3 303 728 - 
Loans to individuals  11 413 - 
 3 315 141  - 

31.12.2019 
EUR 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

  

 

Currency

 

Maturity

 
Interest 

rate per 
annum

 

Principal 
amount 

31.12.2019 
EUR 

Accrued 
interest 

31.12.2019 
EUR 

Principal 
amount 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

Accrued 
interest 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

Other Company * EUR Sep 2021 14.3% 461 000 22 534 30 000 145 
Related party *  EUR Oct 2021 14.5% 4 522 000 222 015 95 000 798 

Related party EUR Feb 2021 12% 8 000 1 512 8 000 552 
Other Company EUR Feb 2022 14.3% 253 092 93 173 400 000 45 833 
Other company EUR Nov 2020 

Feb 2021 
12.5%/4% 2 804 898 629 585 1 778 248 247 312 

Individuals EUR Jan/Jul 2021 15%/2% 
 

46 983 1 421 53 630 - 

    8 095 973 970 240 2 364 878 294 640 
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(18) Other non-current financial assets

Uneliminated investments in subsidiaries

On 13 December 2019, the Group acquired 93.85% control over the shares of Panamerican Limited with operating 
subsidiary in Poland. The purpose for the acquisition was to enable the Group to increase its market share in 
countries in which it already had a presence.

On 3 December 2019, the Group acquired 98% control over the shares of MFO Creditum licenced micro crediting 
company operating in Kazakhstan. The purpose for the acquisition was to expand and to increase its market share 
in Kazakhstan. The Group completed the acquisition process of the entity by obtaining an official approval from 
local authorities.

Total consideration paid for acquisitions in 2019 amounts to EUR 2.64 million, uneliminated investments amounts to 
EUR 2.34 million and it mostly relates to the acquisition of subsidiary in Poland. The Group has performed Goodwill 
assessment test and in statutory consolidated financial statements goodwill for these acquisitions will be recognized 
for EUR 1.56 million. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units.

The Group has tested the carrying value of uneliminated investments in subsidiaries similar to goodwill. The test was 
performed for each cash generating unit separately, that represents the smallest groups of assets that generate 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets. To estimate 
potential impairment the recoverable amounts for each unit was calculated based on their value in use, 
determined by discounting the future cash flows expected to be generated from the continuing activities of the 
units.

The calculations of value in use were based on free cash flows to each unit respectively, discounted by the 
weighted average costs of capital ("WACC"). Projected free cash flows were based on detailed financial models. 
Actual figures were used as a starting point in these models, and took into account management’s expectations 
of the future performance of each unit. The projected cash flows of subsidiaries in Poland for the year 2020 exceeds 
the carrying value of uneliminated investments in subsidiaries by more than 3 times and, therefore, no impairment 
losses are identified.

For description of accounting policies for elimination of investments and share capital please see Note 2.

Investments in equity instruments

During 2019 the Group has made investments in Luma Finans equity in total amount of EUR 1.23 million. As at 31 
December 2019 the Group owns 9.2% of Luma Finans operating company in Sweden. Share purchase agreement 
for acquisition of the company

  31.12.2019 
EUR 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

   
Investments in equity instruments  1 233 041 217 300 
Uneliminated investments in subsidiaries            2 339 753  - 
Other financial assets 29 723 - 
           3 602 517  217 300 



Net losses arising from derecognition of financial instruments through debt sales transaction is EUR 40 082 430 (in 
2018: EUR 5 658 313).
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(19) Loans and receivables from customers

(20) Other receivables

Credit quality of loan portfolio:

  Gross receivables 
31.12.2019 

EUR 

Allowance for doubtful 
debts 31.12 2019 

EUR 

Net receivables 
31.12.2019 

EUR  
No days past due 46 503 379                     4 468 201                   42 035 178  
1-30 days past due                      11 936 762                     4 546 560                     7 390 202  
31-60 days past due                        5 485 245                     3 125 785                     2 359 460  
61-90 days past due                        3 955 730                     2 553 243                     1 402 487  
91+ days past due                        9 713 127                     6 404 469                     3 308 658  
                      77 594 243                   21 098 258                   56 495 985  

Gross receivables 
31.12.2018 

EUR 

Allowance for doubtful 
debts 31.12 2018 

EUR 

Net receivables 
31.12.2018 

EUR 
No days past due  31 550 600   2 001 015   29 549 585  
1-30 days past due  6 102 488   1 579 194   4 523 294  
31-60 days past due  2 606 870   1 451 090   1 155 780  
61-90 days past due  1 818 629   1 322 908   495 721  
91+ days past due  7 457 804   5 183 588   2 274 216  
  49 536 391   11 537 795   37 998 596  

 31.12.2019     
EUR 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

Allowance for doubtful debts   
Balance at beginning of period 11 537 795 976 273 
Charge for the period 37 811 814 15 867 552 
Derecognized on disposal of portfolio    (28 543 877) (5 179 981) 
Currency effect 292 526 (126 049) 
Balance at period end               21 098 258  11 537 795 

  31.12.2019 
EUR 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

   
Receivables for provided management services          4 212 180              3 029 809  
Receivables for sold financial assets 6 513 232                 122 667  
Overpaid VAT 175 849 - 
Receivables for attracted funding through P2P platform (see Note 23 
Loans and borrowings)            1 177 337  4 263 978  
Advances to employees                  66 080  (2 665)  
Security deposits                 103 082                 108 276  
Cash in transit 783 968 380 675 
Other debtors 450 799  263 160  

 13 482 527  8 165 900  
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(21) Cash and cash equivalents

In certain countries the Group provides the possibility to its customer to receive and pay back loans in cash, 
therefore it holds cash on hand at the period end.

(22) Share capital

The Company is incorporated on 7 April 2019. Share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2019 is 320 000 EUR 
and it is divided into 290 909 ordinary shares with the nominal value of EUR 1 and 29 091 personnel shares with 
nominal value of EUR 1. Class A shares issued are fully paid.

The holders of ordinary class A shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time-to-time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at annual and general meetings of the Group. The holders of non-voting preferred 
personnel shares are only entitled to receive dividends as declared from time-to-time. Personnel shares are not 
transferable and shall be returned to the Company once the employment contract is terminated. See also Note 31 
Share-based payment.

Cash and cash equivalents

(23) Loans and borrowings

 31.12.2019 
EUR 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

   
Cash and cash equivalents 3 188 321         2 279 009  
 3 188 321         2 279 009  

Total number 
of Shares     

Share 
capital 

EUR 

Number of 
Class A  
Shares 

Personnel
shares 

      
Opening balance as at 1 January 
2019  - - - - 
Subscriptions  320 000 290 909 29 091 320 000 
Redemptions   - - - - 
Closing balance as at 31 
December 2019  320 000 290 909 29 091 320 000 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

  31.12.2019 
EUR 

Long term   
Subordinated loans 20 193 319 18 045 881 
Bonds 6 548 528 - 
Lease liabilities (see Note 28 Leases) 1 556 688  
 28 298 535 18 045 881  

31.12.2018 
EUR 

  31.12.2019 
EUR 

Short term   
Financing received from P2P investors 39 648 688 28 585 271 
Lease liabilities (see Note 28 Leases) 305 019 - 
Loan from non-related parties 3 209 437  4 210 679 
Loan from related parties 1 096 472 2 003 000 
  44 259 616 34 798 950 

Total  72 558 151 52 844 831 
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Bonds
On 22 August 2019, Sun Finance Treasury successfully issued a 2-year private placement bond (LV0000802395), 
registered on the NASDAQ CSD for EUR 10 million at par with coupon of 11% per annum paid quarterly. The bond 
will mature in August 2021. In 2019 the Group has partly repurchased the bonds and nominal value of the bonds 
held by the Group at 31 December 2019 is EUR 3 110 000. This repurchased part has been accounted for 
de-recognition of financial liabilities and as at 31 December 2019 only bonds held by other parties recognized as 
liabilities. Also interest expenses and income from coupons are disclosed in net amount. See Note 36 for further 
information about commitments and other additional information.

Subordinated loans
Subordinated loans comprise of loan received from unrelated party. The Group has entered into Subordinated 
loan agreement in July, 2019 with 3-year maturity. The subordinated loans are unsecured and were acquired as 
one of the conditions to obtain financing from bonds registered on NASDAQ CSD as described above. The loans 
are denominated in EUR with an interest rate of 14% and are subordinated to all other liabilities of Sun Finance 
Group under Sun Finance Treasury issued bonds.

Loans from related parties
Loans from related parties comprise loans received from entities and individuals which are under control or joint 
control of the shareholders of the Group, but not part of the Group. Received loans from related parties are 
unsecured with average interest rate of 14% and maturity in February, 2020.

Financing received from peer-to-peer (P2P) investors
As disclosed in Note 3 Significant accounting policies (xii) Transactions with peer-to-peer platforms the Group 
certain subsidiaries as loan originators are attracting funding from investors through P2P platform. The Group assigs 
certain debt instruments (issued loans) to investors. All assignments are with recourse rights (buy back guarantee) 
and these assets do not qualify for de-recognition. Please see Note 36 in respect of assets pledge given to P2P 
platform operator.

Funds are transferred to/from Group’s bank accounts once per week. Receivable is arising from assignments made 
through P2P platform where the related investment is not yet transferred to the Group as at 31 December 2019 
amounted to EUR 1 177 337 (31.12.2018: EUR 4 263 978). Payables for attracted funding’s through P2P platform 
represents the returns of funds and as at December 2019 amounted to EUR 6 068 759 (31.12.2018: EUR 387 136).

Detailed information regarding Loans and borrowings can be seen below:

Accrued 
interest 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

 

Currency

 

Maturity

 
Interest 

rate per 
annum

 

Principal 
amount 

31.12.2019 
EUR 

Accrued 
interest 

31.12.2019 
EUR 

Principal 
amount 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

Bonds  EUR  Aug 2021 11% 6 548 528  - - - 
Subordinated loans  EUR Jul 2022 14% 19 960 447 232 872 17 748 758 297 124 
Financing received from P2P 
investors  

EUR/ PLN 
/ KZT 

2020 12% - 15% 39 368 355  280 334 28 401 262 184 009 

Loans from related parties EUR Feb 2020 14% 1 080 275 16 196 2 003 000 - 
Loan from non- related 
parties  

EUR/SEK Dec 2020-
Nov 2023 

9-12% 3 050 157 159 280 4 082 731 127 947 

Lease   
(refer to Note  28)  

   1 861 707 - - - 

    71 869 469 688 682 52 235 751 609 080 
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*Deferred income consists of Interest income calculated using the effective interest method allocated over the 
relevant period.

(28) Leases
The Group applied IFRS 16 with the date of initial application of 1 January 2019. As a result the Group has changed 
its operating lease contract recognition and measurement policy. The Group applied IFRS 16 using the modified 
retrospective approach under which the cumulative effect of initial application is recognized in the retained 
earnings at 1 January 2019.

The Group leases mainly only office premises and vehicles. The leases typically run for a period from 1 to 10 years 
with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are usually increased annually to reflect market 
rent rates.

(24) Prepayments and payments received from clients

(27) Accrued liabilities

(25) Trade and other payables

*Deferred income consists of Interest income calculated using the effective interest method allocated over the 
relevant period.

(26) Taxes payable

  31.12.2019 
EUR 

31.12.2018 
EUR 

Faulty payments received                    35 949                  32 770  
Overpayment received from clients                  279 309               163 610  
                  315 258               196 380  

31.12.2018 
EUR 

 31.12.2019 
EUR 

Deferred income*                  1 502 934                     619 558  
Salaries payable                    310 256                     232 564  
Unpaid dividends                       62 532                                 -    
Trade and other payables 4 331 891                  4 581 912  
Payables for attracted funding through P2P platform (see Note 23 
Loans and borrowings)                 6 068 759  387 136    
Other liabilities                       65 344                        62 394  

               12 341 716  5 883 564  

31.12.2018 
EUR 

 31.12.2019 
EUR 

Social security contributions                203 616                 133 695  
Personal income tax                148 577                 174 039  
Value added tax             1 451 317                 627 618  
Other taxes                     2 967                      1 777  

 1 806 477                 937 129  

31.12.2018 
EUR 

 31.12.2019 
EUR 

Accruals for vacation                          423 519            245 301  
Other accrued liabilities 267 932            145 640  

 691 451           390 941  
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At IFRS 16 initial application EUR 1 862 thousand of lease liabilities were recognized that is an increase of EUR 1 862 
thousand compared to IAS 17 undiscounted lease commitments that is due to previously leases were classified as 
operating lease and due to inclusion of planned lease extensions and discounting of contracted and planned 
lease commitments at 6.2%

(29) Related party transactions

The main ultimate beneficial shareholder of the Group, Aigars Kesenfelds, entities controlled by this individual or 
close family members of this individual are classified as Shareholder controlled companies. Key management 
persons and entities controlled and jointly controlled by them are classified as Other related parties.
Receivables and payables incurred are not secured with any kind of pledge.

Other related 
parties 

 EUR
 

Receivables from related parties:

 
 
 

Shareholder controlled 
companies EUR  

 
 

   

 

 

   

 
 

 
   

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

- Other loans and receivables

Borrowings and payables to related parties:

Loans and borrowings
- Loans and borrowings at the end of the period

Trade and other payables
- Payables at the end of the period

The income and expense items with related parties for 2019 were as follows:

Interest income from related parties:

Other income
- Interest income

Interest expense to related parties:

Interest expense

Other expense:

Service expense

Other transactions with related parties:

Acquisition of subsidiaries       

-

-

51 982

313 115

124 140

639 555

2 602 305

4 735 526

1 096 472

-

-

96 656

-

-
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(30) Fair value of financial instruments

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The table below analyses the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value by the level in the fair 
value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised:

Financial instruments not measured at fair value (Level 3)

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 3 fair values as well as the significant 
unobservable inputs used:

No level of fair value has been assigned for cash and cash equivalents on the basis that these are available on 
demand and therefore no modelling of fair value is required.

Fair value of loan receivables is equal to the carrying value which is present value loan payments discounted using 
effective agreement interest rate and adjusted for impairment allowance.

Fair value of current and non-current borrowings is based on cash flows discounted using effective agreement 
interest rate which represents current market rate. Group's management believes that interest rates applicable to 
loan portfolio and borrowings are in line with current market interest rates for companies similar to the Group.

Due to the short-term nature of the remaining financial assets and financial liabilities no significant fair value 
difference from carrying amount is expected.

The management recognizes that if a fair value of financial assets and liabilities would be assessed as an amount 
at which an asset could be exchanged or liability settled on an arm’s length basis with knowledgeable third parties 
the fair values obtained of the respective assets and liabilities would not be materially different.

No transfers between fair value levels incurred during the year.

Type  Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs 
   
Other borrowed funds  loans 
and advances due from 
customers  deposits and 
balances due to customers 

Discounted cash flows Discount rates 

Total carrying 
amount 

EUR 31 December 2019
 

 
Level 1 

EUR  
Level 2 

EUR 
Level 3 

EUR 

Total fair 
values 

EUR 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 3 188 321 3 188 321 
Loans and advances due 
from customers - - 56 495 985 56 495 985 56 495 985 
Other financial assets  - - 25 661 344 25 661 344 25 661 344 
Total financial assets   82 157 329 85 345 650 85 345 650 
      
Financial liabilities      
Loans and borrowings - - 72 558 151 72 558 151 72 558 151 
Accounts payable to 
suppliers - - 10 838 782 10 838 782 10 838 782 
Other liabilities - - 315 258 315 258 315 258 
Total financial liabilities   83 712 191 83 712 191 83 712 191 
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(31) Share based payments

The Group may grant share options of Subsidiaries to its employees. Share options are generally awarded on the 
first day of employment. A share-based payment is primarily a payment in equity instruments of the entity. The 
Group does not have a present obligation to settle in cash, therefore awards are classified as equity settled. The 
Group does not have a past practice of cash settlement for these awards. The standard vesting period is for 4 years.

Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an 
appropriate valuation model. That cost is recognized in employee benefits expense together with a corresponding 
increase in equity (other capital reserves) over the period in which the service and where applicable the 
performance conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled 
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service 
conditions have not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are 
treated as vested irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. Management has considered the financial position of the 
Subsidiaries and the Group that have issued share options, the particular features mentioned in the option 
agreements, such as buy-back options, non-competition clauses embedded in the agreements, restrictions of sales 
of shares, as well as dividend policy of the Parent Company and effectively indicate that fair value of the 
employee options would be amounted to 253 000 EUR. Fair value is measured using market multiple approach. 
Share option fair value at grant date estimated at 46 EUR per share.

9 249 share options have been granted in 2019. The exercise price for the option is 0 EUR and the weighted average 
remaining contracted life for the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2019 is 2 years. There have been no 
forfeited, exercised or expired share options during the year.

(32) Maturity analysis

The following table shows discounted financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturity dates as at 
31 December 2019.

Assets EUR 
On demand/ less 

than 1 month 
From 1 to 3 

month 
From 3 to 6 

month 
From 6 month

to 1 year 
More than 

1 year Overdue TOTAL 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 3 188 321 - - - - - 3 188 321 

Loans and advances 
to customers 42 035 179 - - - - 14 460 806 56 495 985 
Other loans and 
receivables - - - 3 315 141 5 751 072 - 9 066 213 

Other receivables 13 482 527 - - - - - 13 482 527 
Total financial assets 58 706 027 - - 3 315 141 5 751 072 14 460 806 82 233 046 

Liabilities EUR
 Demand less 

than 1 month  
From 1  to 3 

month 
From 3 to 6 

month 
From 6 month 

to 1 year 
More than 

1 year Overdue TOTAL 
Loans and borrowings 39 674 107 328 255 76 255 1 246 999  31 232 536 - 72 558 151 
Accounts payable to 
suppliers 10 838 782   - - - - - 10 838 782   
Corporate income tax 
payable 5 194 976 - - - - - 5 194 976 
Taxes payable 1 806 477 - - - - - 1 806 477 
Total financial liabilities 57 514 342 328 255 76 255 1 246 999 31 232 536 - 90 398 387 
Net position 1 191 685 (328 255) (76 255) 2 068 142 (25 481 464) 14 460 806 (8 165 341)  
Net cumulative position 1 191 685 893 430 787 175 2 855 318 (22 626 147) (8 165 341) - 
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(33) Analysis of financial liabilities’ contractual undiscounted cash flows
The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group under contractual financial liabilities by remaining 
contractual maturities as at the reporting date.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows in comparison with the carrying 
amounts of financial liabilities comprising discounted cash flows as at the reporting date.

The analysis as at 31 December 2019 was as follows:

35) Credit risk
The table below shows the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of 
financial position. Exposures are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position.
The Group’s maximum credit exposures are shown gross.

The Group does not hold any collaterals or other credit enhancements.

More than 
1 year  

Carrying 
amount 

Total nominal 
inflow/ (outflow) 

On demand/ 
less than 1 

month 
From 1 to 
3 months 

From 3 to 6 
months 

From 6 
month to 

12 months 
Non-derivative 
liabilities        
Loans and borrowings 72 558 151 77 338 062 40 200 182 722 615 778 629 1 230 821 34 785 476 
Accounts payable 
to suppliers 10 838 782 10 838 782 10 838 782 - - - - 
Total 83 396 933 88 176 844  51 038 964 722 615 778 629 1 230 821 34 785 476 
Credit related 
commitments - - - - - - - 

Assets EUR EUR PLN DKK KZT MXN Other TOTAL 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 791 483 3 721 516 057 1 225 239 644 471 7 350 3 188 321 
Loans and advances 
to customers 10 510 929 21 697 476 8 107 471 13 853 366 2 326 743 - 56 495 985 
Other financial assets 17 087 584 4 926 461 956 486 2 676 916 13 667 230 25 661 344 
Total financial assets 28 389 996 26 627 658 9 580 014 17 755 521 2 984 881 7 580 85 345 650 

Liabilities EUR EUR PLN DKK KZT MXN Other TOTAL 
Loans and borrowings 68 642 778 3 059 579 260 614 - 93 012 502 168 72 558 151 
Accounts payable to 
suppliers 6 298 812 3 764 698 200 175 448 282 122 916 3 899 10 838 782 

Other financial liabilities 13 089 - 188 154 114 015 - - 315 258 
Total financial liabilities 74 954 679 6 824 277 648 943 562 297 215 928 506 067 83 712 191 
Net position (46 564 683) 19 803 381 8 931 071 17 193 224 2 768 953 (498 487) 1 633 459 

 
 

31.12.2019 
EUR 

Cash and cash equivalents 3 188 321  
Loans and advances to customers       56 495 985 
Other loans and receivables 9 066 213 
Other receivables      13 482 527 
 82 233 046 
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Information on the credit quality of loans to customers disclosed in Note 19.

(36) Commitments and contingencies
Cooperation agreement with P2P platforms
Cooperation agreements with P2P platforms require to maintain positive amount of equity (including subordinated 
loans) at all times in. Management of the Group monitors and increases the share capital if needed to satisfy this 
requirement.

The Group is subject to additional financial covenants relating to its attracted funding through P2P platform. Group 
is regularly monitoring respective indicators and ensures that covenants are satisfied. The Group as a whole is in 
compliance with these covenants at 31 December 2019.

In case of Group’s operation in Latvia, SIA Mintos Finance as a loan originator grants a loan, or a series of small 
loans, to SIA Extra Credit. The loans from SIA Mintos Finance are secured by commercial pledge agreement 
entered into between SIA Mintos Finance and SIA Extra Credit, whereby SIA Extra Credit has pledged all of its assets 
(including its receivables) to SIA Mintos Finance to maximum amount of EUR 8,000,000 as a security for SIA Mintos 
Finance potential claim rights against SIA Extra Credit.

Sun Finance Treasury Notes

There are restrictions in the Terms and conditions for bonds registered in NASDQ CSD. Financial covenants are 
following:

1) EBITDA to Net Finance Charges must be at least at least 2x
2) Capitalization ratio is at least 20%
3) Unencumbered Receivables to total amount of the debt under the Notes is at least 1.2x
There are other limitations regarding additional and permitted debt restricted and permitted payments permitted 
loans and securities.

The Group is in compliance with all covenants at 31 December 2019.

Tax contingencies
The Group is operating in the numerous markets with different taxation requirements in respect of the corporate 
income tax, withholding taxes, value added tax, personnel taxation and etc. The Group also has a significant 
volume of the intergroup transactions subject to transfer pricing regulations. The Group is in the process of the 
preparation of the transfer pricing documentation and estimates that the taxation authority will accept an 
uncertain tax treatment.
Significant management judgement is used for estimating provisions in relation to tax amounts disputed with tax 
authorities. The Group’s management has assess all potential contingencies regarding taxes and evaluated 
probability of any contingencies arising from to be low, therefore no specific contingent liability should be 
disclosed.
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(37) Group entities
As at 31 December 2019 the Group consisted of the following entities:

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Name of entity Registered office 
Ownership 
31.12.2019 

Acquisition/ 
establishment date 

AS Sun Finance Europe  Skanstes 52  Riga  LV-1013  
Latvia 

100% 09.04.2019 

AS Sun Finance Central Asia * Skanstes 52  Riga  LV-1013  
Latvia 

100% 09.04.2019 

AS Sun Finance Latin America  Skanstes 52  Riga  LV-1013  
Latvia 

100% 17.06.2019 

AS Sun Finance Scandinavia  Skanstes 52  Riga  LV-1013  
Latvia 

95% 09.04.2019 

AS Sun Finance Asia * Skanstes 52  Riga  LV-1013  
Latvia 

100% 15.10.2019 

Sun Finance Treasury Limited Suite 20  The Penthouse  
4th Floor  Ewropa Business 
Centre  Dun Karm Street  
Birkirkara  BKR9034  Malta 

100% 21.05.2019 

SIA P3 Capital Skanstes 52  Riga  LV-1013  
Latvia 

100% 09.04.2019 

SIA Extra Credit Skanstes 52  Riga  LV-1013  
Latvia 

100% 09.04.2019 

SIA LTF2018 Mukusalas 41  Riga
LV-1004  Latvia 

100% 21.05.2019 

ApS Capitolia Nørregade 6  1165 
København K  Denmark 

100% 09.04.2019 

LLP Capvia Republic of Kazakhstan  
Almaty  050051  Medeu 
district  Dostyk avenue 210  
Business Center "Koktem 
Grand"  12th floor 

90% 09.04.2019 

LLP Fincap Suite 18  12 floor  5B block  
Nurly-Tau business-center  
17/1 Al-Farabi ave.  050059  
Almaty  Kazakhstan 

90% 09.04.2019 

LLP Creditum Republic of Kazakhstan  
Almaty  050004  Almalinsky 
district  Seifullina Avenue  
house No. 410/78 

98% 03.12.2019 

LLP Sofi Finance * Republic of Kazakhstan  
Almaty  050051  Medeu 
district  Dostyk avenue 210  
Business Center "Koktem 
Grand"  12th floor 

98% 12.12.2019 
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(37) Group entities
As at 31 December 2019 the Group consisted of the following entities:

* These entities has been established by the Group.

(38) Subsequent events

Covid-19 outbreak

On 11 March 2020 the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus (Covid-19) outbreak a pandemic due to 
which many countries including those the Group operates in declared the state of emergency. Under these 
circumstances governments of the Group’s operating countries have enforced various measures which include 
mainly imposed social or physical distancing restrictions and curfews. Responding to the serious threat that the 
COVID–19 presents to public health all governments of countries in which the Group operates have taken similar 
measures to contain the outbreak including suspension of international passenger transport through airports ports by 
bus and rail and the ‘lock-down’ of certain industries. The global economy and most industries, including consumer 
lending, have seen strong headwinds since first quarter of 2020, driven by the outbreak of the novel coronavirus 
COVID-19. The full impact on economy is still uncertain as new cases continue increasing globally, but it is clear that 
most nations will see their economies shrink in 2020 while some recovery is expected in the following year.

During the COVID-19 the Group has not observed material worsening in payment discipline in more specifically in 
spite of COVID-19 situation, The Group has observed material payment improvement dynamics in Scandinavia, 
driven by our internal initiatives and annual tax return. European businesses remain stable and mature and, as such, 
payment discipline. Latin American and Asian businesses retain stable, payment quality and discipline is in line with 
trends seen prior to COVID-19. As the only exception, our business in Kazakhstan has seen slight worsening in payment 
discipline as a result of the imposed state of emergency in first quarter of 2020. During second quarter of 2020 state of 
emergency in Kazakhstan was revoked and the Group has seen rapid quality improvements. The Group in first quarter 
of 2020 materially reviewed the Group’s cost base, significantly reducing payroll expenses (~40% cuts in headquarters 
as well as different initiatives across all markets) as well as most of other administrative expenses to maintain 
profitability during second quarter of 2020. The Group’s implemented initiatives and cutting edge statistical and data 
analysis capabilities enables informed decision making in the key aspects of our business and during first quarter of 
2020 were successfully put in place which resulted in improved cost to income ratio, strong EBITDA growth and 
improved portfolio quality. The Management is of the view that immediate actions taken and adequate operation 
processes implemented will help to successfully overcome the period of uncertainty and will position the Group in a 
better competitive advantage in comparison to less robustly built competitors.
When preparing these consolidated financial statements Management has considered that the COVID-19 outbreak 
and its related impacts are non-adjusting events.

Name of entity Registered office  
Ownership 
31.12.2019 

Acquisition/ 
establishment date 

Proximus Finance S. 
de R.L. de C.V. ** 

Shakespeare 30 floor 3 Col. Nueva 
Anzures Miguel Hidalgo Cd. de 
México C.P 11590 Mexico City 

99% 31.10.2019 

Sp.z.o.o. Ducatos ** ul. Post pu 18b  02-676 Warszawa, 
Poland 

100% 13.12.2019 

Sp.z.o.o. Primastar ul. Domaniewska 47/10  02-672 
Warszawa, Poland 

100% 21.05.2019 

Panamerican 
Limited ** 

Suite 20  The Penthouse  4th Floor  
Ewropa Business Centre  Dun Karm 
Street  Birkirkara  BKR9034  Malta 

93.85% 13.12.2019 

Fincap MChJ * IRRIGATOR MAVZESI  3-UY  Mirzo-
Ulugbek district  Tashkent  Uzbekistan 

100% 16.04.2019 

Somo Pawshop ALC *
 

Kyrgyz Republic  Bishkek  Toktogul 
Street  257  Frunze + Shopping Center  
boutique 9 

100% 09.04.2019 

Fincap LLC * Kyrgyz Republic  Bishkek 19 Razzakova 
str.  BC Russia  13th floor  office 1302 

100% 22.04.2019 
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Acquisition of new subsidiaries
In line with the Group’s geographical expanding, the Group in 2020 has acquired from other related parties for the 
total purchase price of 2 million EUR the subsidiaries in its newly opened markets. In January 2020 91,8% of the share 
capital of Luma Finans, operating company in Sweden, has been acquired and in April 2020 100% of the Sofi 
Capital PTE.Ltd, company holding 100% interest in operating entity Sofi Solutions LTD.CO in Vietnam has been 
acquired.

Changes in regulatory environment
In Poland, the government has introduced a temporary reduction in non-interest cost caps for a period of one year. 
The new non-interest cost caps for loans of 30 days or more, effective as of 1 April 2020, are 15% fixed cost plus 6% 
annual cost with a 45% total limit, and the nominal annual interest cap was lowered to 8% as of 9 April 2020.

In Denmark, new law was published in July 2020 which proposed APR cap of 35%, overall cost cap of 100% and 
limitations on marketing.

The Group has successfully adjusted its product offering and has not observed adverse impact on profitability.
As of the reporting date until the date of signing these consolidated financial statements there have been no other 
events requiring adjustment or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.
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AS SUN FINANCE GROUP
ADDRESS: SKANSTES STREET 52, RIGA, LV-1003


